# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA SUPREME COURT

ROY ALLAN SLURRY SEAL, INC., et al.,

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

v.

AUG 1 0 2015

\_\_\_

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

AMERICAN ASPHALT SOUTH, INC.,

Deputy

Defendant and Respondent.

#### **OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Eight No. B255558

#### ATKINSON, ANDELSON, LOYA, RUUD & ROMO

Scott K. Dauscher, State Bar No. 204105
Paul G. Szumiak, State Bar No. 109982
Jennifer D. Cantrell, State Bar No. 235015
12800 Center Court Drive South, Suite 300
Cerritos, California 90703-9364
Telephone: (562) 653-3200 • (714) 826-5480
Facsimile: (562) 653-3333

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

- 1. In the context of a competitively-bid public works contract, may a losing bidder state a claim for intentional interference with prospective economic advantage against the winning bidder based on an allegation that after the contract is awarded the winning bidder did not fully comply with California's prevailing wage laws?
- 2. To state a cause of action for intentional interference with prospective economic advantage, must a losing bidder allege that it had a *preexisting* economic relationship with a third party public agency with a probable future benefit which preceded defendant's interference, or is it sufficient for a losing bidder to allege that its economic expectancy arose at the time the public agency awarded the contract to the low bidder?

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Starting with the first time this Court recognized the tort of intentional interference with prospective economic advantage in *Buckaloo v. Johnson* (1975) 14 Cal.3d 815, this Court has always acknowledged the requirement that a plaintiff must establish a "pre-existing economic relationship" as a necessary element of this cause of action. It likewise did so in its last pronouncement on this tort, *Korea Supply v. Lockheed Martin Corporation* (2003) 29 Cal.4th 1134, 1164, when the Court declared that "a plaintiff that wishes to state a cause of action for this tort must allege the existence of an economic relationship with some third party that contains the probability of future economic benefit to the plaintiff."

Moreover, this Court has always limited the application of this tort to "ordinary commercial dealings." (*Blank v. Kirwan* (1985) 39 Cal.3d 311, 330.)

But the case at bar arises in the context of the awarding of public works construction contracts, a process which is anything but an "ordinary commercial dealing." Unlike business relations in the private setting, California's Public Contract Code guarantees "all qualified bidders with a fair opportunity to enter the bidding process" and is designed to "eliminate favoritism" in the awarding of public contracts. (Pub. Contract Code, § 100.) Before a bid can be awarded, the agency must evaluate whether the low bidder is "responsible" and possesses the qualities of trustworthiness, quality, fitness, capacity, and experience, to carry out the project. (Pub. Contract Code, § 1103.) Thus, even the low bidder on public works contracts has no right to compel the agency to accept its bid. (*Charles L. Harney v. Durkee* (1951) 107 Cal.App.2d 570, 580.) And, losing bidders may pursue bid protests to set aside the award of a contract. (*Great West Contractors, Inc., v. Irvine Unified School District* (2010) 187 Cal.App.4th 1425.)

The sharp contrast between the statutorily-mandated process involved in the award of public contracts and the way contracts are made in the private sector shows why the tort of intentional interference with prospective economic advantage has never been extended out of its historical application in "ordinary commercial dealings" to the context of competitively-bid public works contracts and should not be done so now. No bidder enjoys the requisite "existing economic relationship containing the probability of future economic benefit" before the agency formally awards the contract to a bidder, and even then only the winning bidder has that economic relationship. The mere submission of a bid at best suggests an "economic relationship which has yet to arise," which is patently insufficient to state a claim for intentional interference with prospective advantage. (Westside Center Associates v. Safeway Stores 23, Inc. (1996) 42 Cal.App.4th 507, 524.)

Nevertheless, the Court of Appeal held that the threshold requirement of a sufficient "existing economic relationship" was met here. In doing so, the court incorrectly melded the two separate elements of a pre-existing economic relationship and the expectancy of probable future economic benefit into one. This represents an unwarranted expansion of this tort with significant public policy consequences.

The Court of Appeal justified allowing the tort to apply in the public works bidding context as a means to combat "wage theft." Yet Plaintiffs do not seek unpaid prevailing wages on behalf of workers; instead Plaintiffs want their own speculative lost profits on contracts that they may or may not have ever been awarded. California's Labor Code already provides extensive enforcement mechanisms to protect workers by insuring that employers pay prevailing wages.

The Court of Appeal ignored the real floodgate concerns in its expansion of the tort. Its decision would motivate business competitors to

sue for lost profits on work they never had to perform. The impact on public agencies from having to participate in litigation and increased costs to the agencies can hardly be understated.

#### FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Plaintiffs Roy Allan Slurry Seal, Inc. and Doug Martin Contracting Co., Inc. are asphalt contractors that regularly bid on municipal road maintenance projects. (1 CT 3–6.) Defendant and Respondent American Asphalt South, Inc. ("American") is one of Plaintiffs' main business competitors and frequently bids on the same projects. (*Ibid.*)

Plaintiffs allege that between 2009 and 2012, American outbid Plaintiffs on 23 public works contracts totaling more than \$14.6 million. (Maj. Opn., 184 Cal.Rptr.3d 279, 282.) Plaintiffs brought five separate lawsuits against American in Los Angeles, San Bernardino, Riverside, Orange and San Diego Counties, alleging on information and belief that American failed to pay its workers prevailing wages on those contracts. (1 CT 3–6.) Plaintiffs alleged they were the second lowest bidders as to the contracts they respectively bid on, and alleged on information and belief that they would have been awarded those contracts were it not for American's alleged failure to pay all prevailing wages. (1 CT 6.) Based on this theory, Plaintiffs asserted causes of action for intentional interference with prospective economic advantage and other claims.

The Court of Appeal's opinion was originally published at 234 CalApp.4th 748 and 184 Cal.Rptr.3d 279. In an effort to avoid confusion regarding the pagination between the majority and dissent in the typed, slip copy of the opinion, this brief will cite to the Court of Appeal's decision using the California Reporter citation.

Plaintiffs also alleged a cause of action for predatory pricing under the Unfair Practices Act (Bus. & Prof. Code, §§17000 et seq.) and sought an injunction under the Unfair Competition Law (Bus & Prof. Code, § 17200). The trial court sustained demurrers to these causes of action, and the Court

American, while denying that it violated the prevailing wage laws, demurred to the complaints, arguing that as bidders to a public works contract, Plaintiffs did not have an existing economic relationship with any of the awarding agencies and could not allege a reasonable probability of being awarded the contracts. American contended that the mere act of submitting bids for public works contracts does not create an economic relationship and thus Plaintiffs could not allege a necessary element of their cause of action for intentional interference with prospective economic advantage. (1 CT 20–41.)<sup>3</sup>

These demurrers led to conflicting rulings from three of the trial courts. The Riverside Superior Court sustained American's entire demurrer without leave to amend (2 CT 344–345), while the courts in Los Angeles and San Diego overruled the demurrers as to the tortious interference claims. (See 2 CT 187.) In January 2014, Plaintiffs appealed from the Riverside judgment. One week later, this Court ordered all five matters to be coordinated for trial in Los Angeles Superior Court and for appellate purposes in the Second District Court of Appeal. (184 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 283.)

The Court of Appeal, in a 2-1 decision, reversed the trial court and reinstated Plaintiffs' claim for intentional interference with prospective economic advantage. Relying chiefly on *Korea Supply*, *supra*, 29 Cal.4th 1134, the majority reasoned that at the time the public agency awarded the contract to American as the low bidder, Plaintiffs as the second lowest

of Appeal affirmed. Accordingly, these issues are not before the Court.

Although the demurrers raised only issues of law, American strongly denies the factual allegations of the complaints and maintains that it has not engaged in any wrongdoing. Significantly, Plaintiffs do not allege that any court or public agency—including the Department of Industrial Relations, Division of Labor Standards Enforcement—has ever made any determination that American violated any prevailing wage laws.

bidders possessed a reasonably probable economic expectancy that they would have been awarded the contracts but for American's allegedly illegal acts in underpaying its employees. (Maj. Opn., 184 Cal.Rptr.3d at pp. 284–289.)

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

An order sustaining a demurrer without leave to amend is reviewed de novo. (Beckwith v. Dahl (2012) 205 Cal.App.4th 1039, 1049.) The court's only task is to determine whether the complaint states a cause of action. (Blank v. Kirwan (1985) 39 Cal.3d 311, 318.) The court accepts the truth of all facts properly pleaded but cannot accept contentions, deductions, or conclusions of fact or law. (Ibid.) Taking the allegations as a whole, the court decides whether there is a reasonable possibility that the pleading can be cured by amendment; if not, the court must affirm. (Ibid.) The burden of proving such reasonable possibility is on the plaintiff. (Ibid.; Schifando v. City of Los Angeles (2003) 31 Cal.4th 1074, 1081,)

#### **ARGUMENT**

T

California's Public Contracting Laws, Which Protect the Public by
Prohibiting Favoritism and Collusion, Preclude Plaintiffs from
Establishing the Required Elements of Their Claim for Intentional
Interference with Prospective Economic Advantage

A. As a Matter of Law, a Disappointed Bidder to a Public Works

Contract Cannot Sustain a Claim for Intentional Interference

This Court first articulated the elements of the tort in *Buckaloo v*. Johnson (1975) 14 Cal.3d 815, 827. In order to state a claim for interference with prospective economic advantage, plaintiff must allege: (1) an economic relationship between plaintiff and a third party, with the probability of future economic benefit to the plaintiff; (2) defendant's knowledge of the relationship; (3) an intentional act by the defendant, designed to disrupt the relationship; (4) actual disruption of the relationship; and (5) economic harm to the plaintiff proximately caused by the defendant's wrongful act, including an intentional act by the defendant that is designed to disrupt the relationship between the plaintiff and a third party. (Edwards v. Arthur Andersen LLP (2008) 44 Cal.4th 937, 944.) The plaintiff must also allege that the interference was "independently wrongful," meaning that it is proscribed by some constitutional, statutory, regulatory, common law, or other determinable legal standard. (Korea Supply, supra, 29 Cal.4th at p. 1159; Della Pena v. Toyota Motor Sales, U.S.A., Inc. (1995) 11 Cal.4th. 376, 381.)

The threshold element contains two subparts. First, a plaintiff must allege the "existence of a business relationship with which the tortfeasor interfered. Although this need not be a contractual relationship, an existing relationship is required." (Roth v. Rhodes (1994) 25 Cal.App.4th 530, 546, internal citations omitted.) Second, a plaintiff must allege that the existing relationship "probably" would have ripened into an economic benefit. (Korea Supply Co. v. Lockheed Martin Corp., supra, 29 Cal.4th at p. 1164.) Regarding the interplay of these two subparts, this Court has said, "The tort protects the expectation the relationship will produce the desired benefit, not 'the more speculative expectation that a potentially beneficial relationship will arise." (Ibid.) "Only plaintiffs that can demonstrate an economic relationship with a probable future economic benefit will be able to state a cause of action for this tort." (Ibid.; Sole Energy Co. v. Petrochemicals Corp. (2005) 128 Cal.App.4th 212, 243.)

This Court's decisions in *Blank v. Kirwan* (1985) 39 Cal.3d 311 and *Youst v. Longo* (1987) 43 Cal.3d 64 illustrate how these two, independent subparts—the existing relationship and the probable economic expectancy—limit the types of injuries eligible for recovery. In *Blank*, *supra*, 39 Cal.3d 311, plaintiff sued its competitors and city officials for

intentional interference with prospective economic advantage after it was denied a city license to operate a poker club. The plaintiff alleged that its competitors conspired with the city to monopolize the operation of the clubs and "but for defendants' acts he would have made some undetermined profit operating a poker club" within the city. (*Id.* at pp. 329–330.) This Court held the plaintiff's complaint did not state a cause of action "because the first element of the tort is lacking." (*Id.* at p. 330.)

Specifically, *Blank* explained that the plaintiff had (1) failed to establish a business relationship with any recognizable third party, and (2) could not allege probability of future economic benefit because the expectation of a government license was too speculative given the city's discretionary licensing powers. (*Ibid.*) In other words, the plaintiff had no protectable expectancy "but at most a hope for an economic relationship and a desire for future benefit," which was inadequate to state the first element. (*Id.* at p. 331.)

In Youst, supra, 43 Cal.3d 64, the Court denied claims for intentional interference with prospective economic advantage made by a plaintiff whose racehorse lost a harness race due to alleged interference by another jockey. Pointing to the first element, the Court instructed that "as a matter of law, a threshold causation requirement exists for maintaining a cause of action for [tortious interference], namely, proof that it is reasonably probable that the lost economic advantage would have been realized but for the defendant's interference." (Id. at p. 71; italics in original.) "To require less of a showing would open the proverbial floodgates to a surge of litigation based on alleged missed opportunities to win various types of contests," which "would essentially eliminate the tort's element of causation, which links the wrongful act with the damages suffered." (Id. at p. 74.)

Taken together, *Youst* and *Blank* support the view that the interference tort "applies to interference with existing non-contractual relations which hold the promise of future economic advantage." (*Westside Center Associates v. Safeway Stores 23, Inc., supra, 42* Cal.App.4th at p. 524.) The elements "presuppose the relationship existed at the time of the defendant's allegedly tortious acts lest liability be imposed for actually and intentionally disrupting a relationship which has yet to arise." (*Id.* at pp. 523–524.) To be actionable, "a defendant's tortious conduct must have interfered with a specific existing relationship, not simply with the formation of one in the future." (*Id.* at p. 525; see also *Sole Energy Co. v. Petrominerals Corp.* (2005) 128 Cal.App.4th 212, 243; Cal. Practice Guide: Claims & Defenses (The Rutter Group), § 3:156 ["Plaintiff must have an existing relationship that is likely to produce economic benefits in the future. An expectation that the relationship itself will be created in the future is not sufficient."].)

B. Plaintiffs Cannot Allege They Would Have Been Awarded the Contracts Because California's Public Contracting Laws Give Awarding Agencies Significant Discretion, Including the Right to Reject All Bids

The Court of Appeal fashioned a "pre-existing economic relationship" between the public entities and the Plaintiffs based on its presumption that Plaintiffs would have been awarded the contracts simply because the contracts were awarded to American and because Plaintiffs alleged that they were the second lowest bidders. (184 Cal.Rptr.3d 279, 286.) But no such grand leap of faith can be made from "second lowest bidder" to "winning bidder" with sufficient certainty to meet the "preexisting economic relationship" element of the tort at issue here. This is because the competitive bidding laws in this state afford agencies significant discretion in awarding public contracts. (*City of Inglewood-L.A.* 

County Civic Center Auth. v. Superior Court (1972) 7 Cal.3d 861, 867.) The fact that the agencies concluded American was the lowest responsible bidder provides no assurance that the agencies would conclude the same as to Plaintiffs and their bids.

Under the competitive bidding laws, an agency has the sole discretion to reject all bids. (See, e.g. Pub. Contract Code, §§ 20166, 10122, subd. (d), 10185.) Where the contract must be awarded to the lowest responsible bidder, if two bids are lowest, the agency may select either bid. (Pub. Contract Code, § 22038, subd. (b).) Thus, "a public body where it has expressly reserved the right to reject all bids, [may] do so for any reason and at any time before it accepts a bid. If the entity so decides, it may return all bids unopened." (*Universal By-Products, Inc. v. City of Modesto* (1974) 43 Cal.App.3d 145, 152.)

Awarding agencies are also vested with discretion in evaluating the adequacy of the bids and bidders. Before a public agency can award a public works contract, it is required by the Public Contract Code to determine whether a contractor's bid is *responsive* and whether the contractor has submitted the lowest *responsible* bid.

A bid is "responsive" if it "promises to do what the bidding instructions require." (MCM Construction, Inc. v. City and County of San Francisco (1998) 66 Cal.App.4th 359, 368.) A determination of "responsiveness" concerns whether or not a bidder complied with the bid's requirements. The agency must reject a bid that materially deviates from the bid's requirements, but if the deviation is not material the agency has the discretion, but not the requirement, to waive the deviation and accept the bid. (Id. at p. 374.)

The "lowest responsible bidder requirement" imposes a duty on agencies to evaluate bidders' possession of the attributes of trustworthiness, quality, fitness, capacity, and experience to carry out the contract

requirements. (Pub. Contract Code, § 100; *Eel River Disposal and Resource Recovery, Inc. v. Humboldt* (2013) 221 Cal.App.4th 209, 220.)

The determination whether the bidder is "responsible" thus entails multiple factors of an inherently qualitative nature. Any decision that a bidder is not responsible requires the entity to afford basic due process rights to the affected bidder. (*Boydston v. Napa Sanitation District* (1990) 222

Cal.App.3d. 1362, 1369 [before a contract may be awarded to one other than the lowest bidder, the agency "must (1) notify that bidder of any evidence reflecting upon the bidder's responsibility received from others or adduced as a result of independent investigation, (2) afford the bidder an opportunity to rebut such adverse evidence, and (3) permit the bidder to present evidence of qualification"].)

Only by first evaluating the bids and determining whether a bid is both responsive and is made by the lowest responsible bidder can the agency assure that the taxpayers receive the most for their money and that awards are made without favoritism, fraud or corruption. (*City of Inglewood–L.A. County Civic Center Auth. v. Superior Court, supra,* 7 Cal.3d at pp. 866–867.) It necessarily follows that simply because the agencies awarded the contracts to American after determining that American and its bid met the contract requirements does not necessarily mean the agencies would have awarded the same contracts to Plaintiffs. Thus, the Court of Appeal's conclusion that Plaintiffs' enjoy an "existing economic relationship" because the contracts were awarded and because Plaintiffs alleged themselves to be the "second low bidder" is overly simplistic and ignores the realities facing the public agencies and bidders for public works contracts.

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