SEP 3 0 2015

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Denuh

ROY ALLAN SLURRY SEAL, INC., et al.

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

v.

AMERICAN ASPHALT SOUTH, INC.,

Defendant and Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Eight No. B255558

Daniel W. Doyle, Esq. (SBN 147705) ddoyle@dsmllp.com David Klehm, Esq. (SBN 165302) dklehm@dsmllp.com DOYLE SCHAFER McMAHON LLP 100 Spectrum Center Drive, Suite 520 Irvine, Ca 92618

Telephone: 949.727.7077 Facsimile: 949.727.1284

Attorneys for Plaintiffs and Appellants, Roy Allan Slurry Seal, Inc. and Doug Martin Contracting Co., Inc.

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

Respondent cites *Salma v. Capon* (2008) 161 Cal.App.4th 1275, 1291, as authority for requiring appellants to show they had an "economic relationship" with the public agencies. However, the case law clearly demonstrates, as detailed below, appellants are not required to prove their "economic relationship" with the public agencies in the

context of their *past or continuing* relationship with those agencies, but instead, only that they had a contemporaneous (existing) relationship with those agencies that contained the probability of future economic benefit to appellants. *Salma* held, "Plaintiff did not show that he had *existing* relationships with *potential* purchasers or lenders that were disrupted by Capon's conduct. A plaintiff must establish an existing relationship to establish a claim for intentional interference with prospective economic advantage." (emphasis added). Therefore, *Salma's* holding requires appellants to prove they had an existing relationship with a potential purchaser (public agency) of their goods and services. Appellants submit that the "existing relationship" is satisfied by appellants' allegations that they actually submitted bids on the public works contract and would have probably been awarded the contract but for respondent's illegal conduct.

The term "existing relationship" as used by in *Salma*, was not stated by this

Court in the holding of *Korea Supply*, and to the extent respondent interprets the term

"existing relationship" in a manner that contradicts, or is inconsistent with, this

Court's holding in *Korea Supply*, respondent's interpretation of the requirements of
an "existing relationship" are inaccurate. This Court in *Korea Supply* expressly did
not change the elements of the tort as set forth in either *Buckaloo* or *Della Penna*,
except with regards to the third element of the intent of the defendant. *Della Penna*,
supra, 11 Cal.4th at p. 393, fn. 5. *Korea Supply* specifically endorsed the elements of
the tort of intentional interference with prospective economic advantage, as
understood by the majority of the Courts of Appeal after *Della Penna*, except for the
third element.

The majority of the cases from the Courts of Appeal, including the cases cited by appellants and respondent in their respective briefs, such as *Settimo* and *PMC*, *Inc.* v. *Saban* (1996) 45 Cal.App. 4th 579, 594, describe the first element as "... (1) the existence of a prospective business relationship containing the probability of future economic rewards for plaintiff;..."

Since *Korea Supply* expressly endorses the understanding of the Courts of Appeal on this tort it makes no sense to read *Korea Supply* in a manner that contradicts the holdings of those cases- which is exactly what occurs by interpreting *Korea Supply* in a manner that adds a requirement to the first element that previously did not exist, i.e. an existing economic relationship of the type argued by respondent. Therefore, appellants' respectfully suggest that it is the *contemporaneous aspect* of the term "existing" relationship which is the most logical interpretation that makes sense of the two descriptions of the required economic or business relationship as stated in *Settimo* and *Korea Supply*.

Settimo described the necessary first element as, "the existence of a prospective business relationship containing the probability of future economic rewards. 14 Cal.App. 4th 842, 845. Korea Supply described the first element of this tort as, "the existence of an economic relationship with some third party that contains the probability of future economic benefit to the plaintiff. Korea Supply at page 1164. However, both Settimo and Korea Supply expressly and specifically focused only on the future, or prospective, economic benefit to plaintiff arising out of the existing

relationship, i.e. bidder and awarding body. One needs look no further than a dictionary for additional support to correctly interpret the holding of *Korea Supply*.

The word "relationship" is defined as "the way in which two or more people or things are connected". Certainly, a bidder and the awarding body who solicited the bid have an existing relationship. Assuming arguendo appellants had *not* actually submitted their respective bids, *then* respondent could successfully argue the lack of an "existing relationship" between appellants and the third party. Moreover, there is no legal authority supporting respondent's argument that the situation created by appellants bidding on a contract is not an "existing relationship" with a third party. For respondent to argue this point is to disavow the plain meaning of the words "existing" and "relationship". This type of "existing relationship" does not mean there is collusion or favoritism as respondent argues, but it accurately serves to define and describe a contemporaneous event that occurred between appellants who actually submitted bids and the third party awarding body who solicited appellants' bids.

The narrow characterization of "existence of an economic relationship" argued by respondent simply does not exist in the business world because it is impossible to have an "economic relationship" with a third party customer or client that has produced neither current, nor past, economic benefit. Moreover, neither *Settimo* nor *Korea Supply* require any past, or, existing, economic benefit to plaintiff from the relationship between plaintiff and the third party. Therefore, the most congruous interpretation is that courts do not require an existing economic relationship between plaintiff and the third party that is producing an economic

benefit to plaintiff, or did so in the past. The type of "economic relationship" respondent's arguments requires is not expressly stated by any court, and is, in fact contradicted by the rationale supporting the holdings stated in Settimo and Korea Supply. Furthermore, neither Settimo nor Korea Supply describe the required relationship as an "existing economic relationship" or confine it so narrowly. Neither Settimo nor Korea Supply require any past, or existing (i.e., contemporaneous), economic benefit from the relationship between plaintiff and the third party. The common denominators between Settimo and Korea Supply are an "existing relationship" that is "economic" in nature and has prospective benefit to plaintiff. When the first element of the cause of action for intentional interference with prospective economic advantage as stated in Settimo and by this Court in Korea Supply are compared, "the existence of a prospective business relationship containing the probability of future economic rewards" (Settimo at p. 845), and "the existence of an economic relationship with some third party that contains the probability of future economic benefit to the plaintiff" (Korea Supply at p. 1164), it is apparent the type of relationship that needs to be in "existence" is a prospective economic relationship containing the probability of future economic benefit. Thus, no current or past economic relationship, or economic benefit, between the plaintiff and the third party is required.

The subordinate clause, "that contains the possibility of future economic benefit to the plaintiff" defines the parameters of, "the existence of an economic relationship with some third party..." and those parameters do *not* require any past or

present economic benefit to plaintiff from the relationship. The only aspect of the relationship that needs to be in "existence" is the relationship itself, i.e. something opposite of a relationship that has not yet ripened into an actual historical event. To interpret the required economic relationship as anything other than that, i.e. requiring past or present economic benefit from the relationship just because the adjective "economic" is used in front of "relationship", would be contradictory to the express language of *Settimo* and *Korea Supply*. Also, interpreting these holdings to require either a previous or ongoing business relationship with the third party, without the requirement of any past or present economic benefit to plaintiff, would describe a business relationship that simply does not exist in the real world of business interactions.

The definition of "existing economic relationship" argued by respondent is more akin to an ongoing business relationship than the more expansive, and less congealed relationship which appellate courts, such as *Settimo*, have described, and which *Korea Supply* describes and endorsed in footnote 6. Therefore, appellants' submit the most logical interpretation of *Korea Supply* based on the holdings in *Settimo* and the majority of opinions from the Courts of Appeal, which *Korea Supply* expressly endorses, is to define "the existence of an economic relationship" with a third party using the plain meaning definitions of the words as fashioned in this phrase by this Court, (i.e. "existence" to simply mean that it exists contemporaneously, as opposed to something that is merely being contemplated; "economic" to mean related to the process by which goods or services are bought or

sold; and interpret "relationship" to mean the relative position of two things to each other). Then, when this phrase is viewed through the lens of its subordinate clause, "with some third party that contains the probability of future economic benefit to the plaintiff." its plain meaning correlates with *Settimo* and the holdings of the majority of the Courts of Appeal. More importantly, from appellants' perspective, when the holding of *Korea Supply* is interpreted according to the plain meaning of each of its words, the holding clearly applies to the facts of the instant case because appellants' relationship with the awarding body was in existence due to the submission of their bids, the relationship was economic in nature and the relationship had the probability of economic benefit to appellants because appellants were the rightful lowest bidders on each contract alleged in the operative Complaint.

Respondent's attempt to extinguish this cause of action at the demurrer stage is premature. "[I]t is a question of fact whether the business relationship between the plaintiff and third party is sufficient to support the tort" of interference with prospective economic advantage. *Tri-Growth Centre City, Ltd. V. Silldorf, Burdman, Duignan & Eisenberg*, 216 Cal.App.3d 1139, 1153 (1989). *See also Buckaloo, supra* at p. 830 n.7. ("The protected area of activity is not a contractual relationship but an economic relationship with the potential to ripen into contract. Whether the relationship is of sufficient depth to support the tort is a factual question which plaintiff will be put to the burden of proving at trial.") Respondent's argument also fails because instead of using the objective perspective of "probability of future economic benefit" it uses the subjective perspective. Specifically, respondent argues

appellants could not have had a probable economic benefit because appellants could not have known at the time they submitted their bid that their bid would be the rightful lowest bid. However, respondent's argument is based entirely on a subjective perspective. When viewed from an objective perspective, at the moment all of the bids are submitted only one bid would be objectively known to be the lowest bid. Therefore, the fact appellants did not subjectively "know" their bid was the rightful lowest bid at the time they submitted their bid is irrelevant.

D. The Awarding Governmental Body is Statutorily Required to Award the Contract to the Lowest Responsible Bidder Unless All Bids are Rejected

The awarding governmental body was statutorily required under the circumstances of this case to award the contracts alleged in the Complaint to the lowest responsible bidder. Public Utilities Code, § 130232, subd. (a) [contracts in excess of \$25,000 required to be awarded to the "lowest responsible bidder"]. Appellants have alleged they, respectively, would have been the lowest responsible bidder but for respondent's fraudulent, illegal and/or unfair conduct in obtaining the award. Complaint, ¶¶11-16.

V. RESPONDENT'S ARGUMENTS EXTEND BEYOND THE FOUR CORNERS OF THE COMPLAINT

In reviewing the merits of a general demurrer, "the allegations of the complaint are assumed to be true." *Ramsden v. Western Union*, 71 Cal.App.3d 873, 879 (1977). A demurrer is not "the appropriate procedure for determining the truth of disputed facts or what inferences should be drawn where competing inferences are possible." *CrossTalk Productions, Inc. v Jacobson*, 65 Cal.App.4th 631, 635 (1998).

Respondent raises issues contradicting the express allegations of the Complaint by citing *Great West Contractors, Inc. v. Irvine Unified School District* (2010) 187 Cal.App.4th 1425, 1448, for the proposition that certain cities agencies are authorized to exercise their discretion and may award contracts to the bidders who are not the lowest bidder but are "superior" to other bidders. There is no allegation supporting respondent's argument which, in any event, is better suited for a motion for summary judgment. Further, there is no support for respondent's premise that appellants would not have been deemed the lowest responsible bidders but for respondent's independently wrongful interfering conduct.

Similarly, Respondent's statement in footnote 3 on page 5, extends beyond the allegations of the Complaint. Appellants have not alleged a court or public agency concluded respondent violated prevailing wage laws. However, appellants did allege five of respondent's former employees filed lawsuits against respondent for not paying prevailing wages and other violations of employee related statutes. Appellants, if permitted, are able to add allegations from the depositions of respondent's former employees describing how supervisors employed by respondent instructed employees to take hours off of their timecards so respondent did not have to pay proper prevailing wages and that some workers used multiple social security numbers and multiple names they obtained from other employees. In any event, Respondent's footnote is more appropriate for a motion for summary judgment argument than a demurrer because it extends beyond the allegations of the complaint. If permitted, appellants will venture down this extraneous rabbit hole opened by respondent when issues of fact are decided

later in this litigation, except to note now that none of the awarding bodies alleged in the Complaint awarded the contract based on any factor other than respondent submitting the lowest bid amount.

VI. APPELLANTS ARE NOT MERELY "DISAPPOINTED BIDDERS" BUT ARE THE FORESEABLE TARGETS OF RESPONDENT'S PATTERN OF WRONGFUL CONDUCT

The use of the term "losing bidder" throughout the Opening Brief does not accurately reflect appellants' status caused by defendant's illegal conduct as alleged in the operative Complaint. A more accurate term would be "deprived bidder" as noted in the Georgia Supreme Court case cited by respondent, *City of Atlanta v. J.A. Jones Construction Co.* (Ga. 1990) 260 Ga. 658, 662.

VII. APPELLANTS ONLY HAVE TO PROVE A PROBABILITY OF BENEFICIAL ECONOMIC EXPECTANCY NOT A GUARANTEE

Respondent's argument that Appellants, as the second lowest bidder, can not allege they would have obtained the various public works contracts referenced in the Complaint because the awarding city or county did not have to award the contract to the lowest bidder as per Public Contracts Code section 10122 ignores critical factual and legal points. Factually, the city or county in each bid referenced in the Complaint did award the contract to the lowest bidder. Legally, Appellants are not required to prove a guaranteed expectancy, only the probability that a beneficial economic relationship would arise. *Korea Supply, id.* at page 1155.

Further, the Public Contracts Code does require the contract be awarded to the lowest responsible bidder. Public Contracts Code section 10122. Since the awarding agencies' discretion under Public Contracts Code section 20166,10122(d) and 10185,

is essentially limited to awarding the contract to the lowest responsible bidder or rejecting all of the bids, respondent's argument on this point is moot. Pragmatically, if the awarding agency did exercise its discretion to reject all of the bids, then both appellants' bids and respondent's bids would have been rejected, respondent would not have breached a duty and appellants would not have incurred any damages. Thus, this scenario renders this aspect of respondent's discretion argument entirely moot.

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